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September 14, 2022 
 
Craig Reiter 
PO Box 87  
Gulliver, MI 49840 
 
Dear Mr. Reiter: 
 
The Department of State (Department) has received a complaint filed against you pursuant to 
section 15(5) of the Michigan Campaign Finance Act (MCFA), 1976 PA 388, MCL 169.215(5).   
The complaint alleges that you falsely claim you are an incumbent under the MCFA and that 
your materials fail to provide a proper paid for by statement. This letter concerns the disposition 
of the complaint. 
 
The MCFA generally regulates the source, amount, and disclosure of campaign contributions and 
expenditures.  The campaign finance complaint process, which is described more fully at MCL 
169.215, is designed to address allegations relating to the receipt of prohibited contributions, 
unauthorized expenditures, improper disclosure, and so on.  In contrast, the Michigan Election 
Law (MEL), 1954 PA 116, MCL 168.1 et seq., governs the administration of elections including 
the circulation and filing of petitions, voter registration, ballot counting procedures, certification 
of election results and provides a list of certain election-related offenses such as forgery, perjury, 
and the false designation of incumbency.   
 
It is important to understand that the Department’s investigatory powers are strictly limited to 
purported violations of the MCFA.  MCL 169.215(5), (10).  Upon a careful review of the 
complaint and supporting documentation submitted, alleges that you violated the MEL by 
claiming on his campaign literature that he is a current councilman.  The MEL provides: 
 

Any person who advertises or uses in any campaign material, including radio, 
television, newspapers, circulars, cards, or stationery, the words incumbent, re-
elect, re-election, or otherwise indicates, represents, or gives the impression that a 
candidate for public office is the incumbent, when in fact the candidate is not the 
incumbent, is guilty of a misdemeanor punishable as provided in section 934.   
 

MCL 168.944.  Other provisions of the MEL, specifically sections 940 and 941, MCL 168.940 
and 168.941, confer upon law enforcement officers and prosecuting attorneys the authority to 
investigate and prosecute such criminal violations of the MEL. 
 
Since this part of the complaint concerns the application and enforcement of the MEL, this 
cannot be the subject of a campaign finance complaint filed under the MCFA.  See MCL 
169.215(5) (“[a] person may file with the secretary of state a complaint that alleges a violation of 
this act [,]”) and MCL 169.215(10) (the secretary of state may “refer the matter to the attorney 
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general for the enforcement of a criminal penalty provided by this act.”) (Emphasis added).  The 
campaign finance complaint process simply is not designed to resolve complaints involving 
purported violations of the MEL.   
 
For this reason, the Department has no alternative but to dismiss this portion of the complaint.   
 

Paid for By Statement 
 
Regarding the second portion of the complaint, the MCFA and corresponding administrative 
rules require a person who produces printed material that relates to an election include the phrase 
“Paid for by [name and address of the person who paid for the item].”  MCL 169.247(1), R 
169.36(2).  A knowing violation constitutes a misdemeanor offense punishable by a fine of up to 
$1,000.00, imprisonment for up to 93 days, or both.  MCL 169.247(6). 
 
Upon review, the evidence submitted supports the conclusion that a potential violation of the Act 
has occurred.  From the outset, the Department must consider whether it is an expenditure 
covered by the MCFA.  The material specifically uses words of express advocacy as defined by 
the Act.  MCL 169.206(2)(j).  Because it urges voters to vote for you using words of express 
advocacy and was published by your committee, the materials are covered by the ambit of the 
Act and must include the paid for by statement outlined under section 47.  MCL 169.206(2)(j).  
However, the signs have completely omitted the required paid for by statement.  Since this 
phrase is absent, the evidence supports the conclusion that a potential violation has occurred. 
 
After reaching this conclusion, the Act requires the Department to “endeavor to correct the 
violation or prevent a further violation by using informal methods [,]” if it finds that “there may 
be reason to believe that a violation … has occurred [.]”  MCL 169.215(10).  The objective of an 
informal resolution is “to correct the violation or prevent a further violation [.]”  Id.   
 
Given this, the Department concludes that a formal warning is a sufficient resolution to the 
complaint and is hereby advising you that MCL 169.247(1) and R 169.36(2) require you to print 
a complete and accurate identification statement on all campaign materials, consisting of the 
phrase “paid for by” followed by the full name and address of your committee. 
 
Note that all printed materials referencing you or your candidacy produced in the future must 
include this identification statement.  For all materials currently in circulation, the paid for by 
statement must be corrected.  If this information has been included in your materials and you 
wish to rebut the Department’s conclusion, you must respond in writing to the Department 
within 15 business days of the date of this letter otherwise the Department will treat the 
complaint as resolved. 
 
Please be advised that this notice has served to remind you of your obligation under the Act to 
identify your printed matter and may be used in future proceedings as evidence that tends to 
establish a knowing violation of the Act.  A knowing violation is a misdemeanor offense and 
may merit referral to the Attorney General for enforcement action.  MCL 169.247(6), 215(10). 
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Sincerely, 

 
Adam Fracassi 
Bureau of Elections 
Michigan Department of State 
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